THE EXECUTIVE

Minutes of the meeting held on 30th October, 2017

PRESENT: Councillor Llinos Medi Huws (Chair)

Councillor Ieuan Williams (Vice-Chair)

Councillors John Griffith, Carwyn Jones,

R. Meirion Jones, Alun Mummery,

Dafydd Rhys Thomas.

IN ATTENDANCE: Chief Executive

Assistant Chief Executive (Governance and Business Process Transformation/Statutory Director of Social

Services)

Assistant Chief Executive (Partnerships, Community and

Service Improvement)

Head of Function (Resources) & Section 151 Officer Head of Function (Council Business)/Monitoring

Officer

Head of Learning

Head of Housing Services Head of Adults' Services

Head of Democratic Services (for item 5)

Head of Corporate Transformation

Strategic Manager (Major Infrastructure Projects)

(RJ)

Committee Officer (ATH)

APOLOGIES: Councillors Richard Dew, R.G.Parry, OBE, FRAgS

ALSO PRESENT: Councillors Lewis Davies, Glyn Haynes, Eric Jones,

G.O. Jones, Dylan Rees, Alun Roberts

1 DECLARATION OF INTEREST

Councillor Carwyn Jones declared a personal interest with regard to item 9 on the agenda as Chair of Ysgol Llandegfan Board of Governors. Councillor Jones also declared a further prejudicial interest with regard to this matter on the basis of his first cousin's employment in Ysgol Beaumaris and the attendance at Ysgol Llandegfan of his cousin's son. Councillor Jones said that following an application to the Standards Committee, he had been granted a dispensation on 18 July, 2017 to participate fully throughout the school's modernisation process in the Seiriol area but not to vote on the matter.

Councillor Alun Roberts (not a member of the Executive) declared a personal interest with regard to items 8 and 9 as a member of Ysgol Beaumaris Board of Governors.

2 URGENT MATTERS CERTIFIED BY THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OR HIS APPOINTED OFFICER

None to report.

3 MINUTES

The minutes of the previous meeting of the Executive held on 18th September, 2017 were presented for confirmation.

It was resolved that the minutes of the previous meeting of the Executive held on 18th September, 2017 be confirmed as correct.

4 MINUTES - CORPORATE PARENTING PANEL

The draft minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held on 11th September, 2017 were presented for adoption.

It was resolved that the draft minutes of the meeting of the Corporate Parenting Panel held on 11th September, 2017 be adopted.

5 THE EXECUTIVE'S FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME

The report of the Head of Democratic Services incorporating the Executive's Forward Work Programme for the period from November, 2017 to June 2018 was presented for the Executive's approval.

The Head of Democratic Services reported on changes to the Forward Work Programme since the previous reporting period as follows –

Items new to the Forward Work Programme

- Item 2 Castles and Town Walls of King Edward in Gwynedd World Heritage Sites Management Plan 2017-22 to be considered by the Executive's at its 6th November, 2017 meeting.
- Item 9 Transformation of the Library Service to be considered by the Executive at its 27th November, 2017 meeting.
- Item 10 Transformation of the Culture Service Oriel Ynys Môn to be considered by the Executive at its 27 November, 2017 meeting.
- Item 12 CSSIW Inspection of Children's Services in Anglesey Improvement Plan Quarterly Progress report to be considered by the Executive at its 27th November, 2017 meeting.
- Item 14 Delegations required for the Council's participation in the examination of Wylfa Newydd and North Wales Connection Project applications under the Planning Act 2008 to be considered by the Executive at its 27th November, 2017 meeting.

- Item 21 Schools' Modernisation Llangefni Area Strategic Outline Case/Outline Business Case to be considered by the Executive at its 18th December, 2017 meeting.
- Item 35 North Wales Population Assessment Regional Plan subject to confirmation, to be considered by the Executive at its 19th February, 2018 meeting.
- Item 36 Extra Care Housing, Seiriol subject to confirmation, to be considered by the Executive at its 19th February, 2018 meeting.
- Item 37 Schools' Modernisation Seiriol Area subject to confirmation, to be considered by the Executive at its 19th February, 2018 meeting.
- Item 38 CSSIW Inspection of Children's Services in Anglesey Improvement Plan Quarterly Progress report scheduled for consideration by the Executive at its 19th February, 2018 meeting.
- Item 45 Corporate Scorecard Quarter 4 2017/18 to be considered by the Executive at its May, 2018 meeting on a date to be confirmed.
- Item 46 2017/18 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report Quarter 4 to be considered by the Executive in May, 2018 on date to be confirmed.

The Head of Democratic Services informed the Executive that additionally, item 26 (2017/18 Revenue and Capital Budget Monitoring Report Quarter 3) has been brought forward from the Executive's 26th March, 2018 meeting to its 19th February, 2018 meeting as indicated on the Work Programme.

It was resolved to confirm the Executive's updated Forward Work Programme for the period from November, 2017 to June, 2018 as presented.

6 ANNUAL PERFORMANCE REPORT (IMPROVEMENT PLAN) 2016/17

The report of the Head of Corporate Transformation incorporating the Annual Performance Report for 2016/17 was presented for the Executive's consideration.

The Portfolio Member for Corporate Services reported that the Annual Performance Report as presented looks back at the performance in 2016/17. This reflects the last 12 months under the leadership of the previous Executive which was part of the previous Administration. The report looks at the Council's progress against its improvement objectives for 2016/17 as outlined through the 7 key areas set out in the 2015/16 Annual Delivery Document. The finalised Performance Report will provide an assessment of the Council's performance against its key performance indicators that assess performance year on year and benchmarked against other local authorities in Wales. Overall the report draws a positive picture of performance at the Council where 64% of the Performance Indicators (PIs) show an improvement and where 8% remain constant placing the Council fourth in Wales in terms of improvement. Particular areas where the improvement has been marked include sickness absence management (down from 12 FTE to 9.8 FTE in 2016/17) and recycling where the performance places Anglesey sixth among Wales's local authorities. The improvement is all the more significant as it has been achieved during a period of austerity. While there remain areas for improvement which the Council is addressing, the challenge now is to consolidate the achievement and to maintain the momentum of improvement into the future.

The Portfolio Member for Corporate Services confirmed that the Annual Improvement Report had been scrutinised by the Corporate Scrutiny Committee; the Committee had highlighted the need to evidence economic renewal in Amlwch and Beaumaris under the theme of Regenerating Communities and Developing the Economy. The Senior Leadership Team (SLT) is taking this matter up.

The Executive acknowledged the improvement to which the report testified and saw it as reflecting a combination of leadership by the SLT, hard work by all the Council's staff and constructive political co-operation in order to bring about positive results.

It was resolved to agree to the 2016/17 Annual Performance Report and to recommend its adoption to the County Council in order for it to be published on the Council's website in accordance with statutory expectations.

7 CAPITAL STRATEGY 2018/19

The report of the Head of Function (Resources) and Section 151 Officer setting out the proposed capital strategy for 2018/19 was presented for the Executive's consideration. The report identifies the potential future capital expenditure requirements, assesses the impact on the capital financing element of the revenue account and determines the funding available to finance new capital schemes in 2018/19.

The Portfolio Member for Finance reported that in order for the Council to determine which projects are included in the 2018/19 capital programme, the Executive is asked to provide guidance on the level of funding that will be made available bearing in mind the impact of the capital programme on the capital financing budget element of the Council's Revenue budget. The capital programme is funded from a number of sources which are listed in the report. In October, 2016, the Executive agreed to a number of principles in respect of the capital strategy and these are outlined in section 3 of the report. The Executive is being asked to reaffirm those principles for the purpose of the 2018/19 capital strategy.

The Council has commenced an ambitious plan to modernise and update its schools through the Twenty-First Century Schools Programme at a total capital cost of around £120m. Band A of the programme is funded by 50% additional funding from the Welsh Government and 50% via unsupported borrowing. It is anticipated subject to confirmation, that the Welsh Government's contribution to Band B will remain at 50% for the traditional funded schemes but with the introduction also of an element of private sector funding through a mutual investment model. In seeking to reduce revenue expenditure to ensure a balanced budget, it is reasonable to also look to reduce the increase in the capital funding budget by restricting it to a level that can be funded by the annual settlement i.e. the General Capital Grant and supported borrowing which are expected to be around the £1.3m and £2.2m allocated respectively in 2017/18. Capital grants will be available in 2018/19 to fund specific schemes e.g. the completion of the Llangefni Lin k Road, flood alleviation and infrastructure schemes and Phase 2 of Holyhead Market Hall amongst others at a total cost £23.4m. Consideration may also have to be given to funding a number of other potential schemes – these are set out in section 7.3 of the report.

The Head of Function (Resources) and Section 151 Officer confirmed that the funding available to support capital schemes is tight; it does reflect a change of approach by the Welsh Government whereby local government capital schemes are increasingly funded through specific grants whereas the general capital grant and the supported borrowing element of capital funding have largely remained unchanged for the past few years with the upshot that there is less money available for the Council's general projects. The Officer said that it is important that the Council should continue to invest in its current assets by way of maintenance and upgrading in order to avoid the much larger cumulative costs down the line which failure to do so will entail. The Capital Strategy reflects this objective and having made a commitment to maintaining existing assets there is very little additional funding left to embark on new schemes notwithstanding there is pressure to renew and/or invest in those schemes set out in paragraph 7.3 of the report. However, the funding available is not sufficient to support anything beyond those schemes already earmarked and the maintenance of existing assets which includes highways. The Highways revenue budget has reduced over time and the strategy has been to use capital funding to fund the revenue element. As the Highways revenue budget remains tight it is proposed to continue with this strategy and to use core capital funding to invest £700k in maintaining highways.

The only scope for utilising additional funding is through the capital funding reserve which has been built up from unspent revenue budgets some time ago. The current uncommitted balance stands at £500k and the fund is mainly drawn upon for emergency work or where a small contribution from the Council allows access to grant funding. While maintaining a balance in the fund is therefore necessary, £250k could be released in 2018/19 to fund some of the additional pressures described in section 7.3 of the report e.g. smaller invest to save projects as was the case in 2017/18.

The Executive considered the report and made the following points –

- The Executive sought to establish whether the Authority is getting the most from its assets before reinvesting in them e.g. the proposed £150k expenditure on vehicles which would cover approximately 50 vehicles on lease at current costs. The Head of Function (Resources) and Section 15 Officer confirmed that the £150k is for the purchase of new vehicles vehicles on lease are covered by the revenue budget.
- The Executive considered that it was not in a position at this point to be able to determine how the net additional capital financing costs of Band B 21st Century Schools are to be funded given that the Band B Business Case has not as yet been approved by the Welsh Government. (Recommendation 2 of the report). The Executive was agreed that it should revisit this matter when that approval has been given.
- The Executive was agreed in believing that £250k should be released in 2018/19 from the capital reserve fund to meet some of the additional pressures identified and that as with last year, this be allocated to invest to save projects on the reasoning that these are designed to deliver ongoing revenue savings for the Council.

It was resolved -

- To reaffirm the capital strategy principles set out in paragraph 3 of the report.
- To confirm that the 2018/19 capital programme funding will be limited to the total of the general capital grant and supported borrowing (as determined by Welsh Government) and the estimated value of any capital receipts that will be received.
- To confirm that the existing project commitments (Table 5 of the report) and the funding for the renewal/upgrade of existing assets for 2018/19 are as set out in Table 6 of the report subject to the addition of £250k to be released during 2018/19 from the capital reserve fund to be allocated to invest to save projects.

8 EXTRA CARE HOUSING, SEIRIOL - ENGAGEMENT

The report of the Head of Adults' Services seeking the Executive's approval to engage with the community of Seiriol over a period from November to December 2017 on matters relating to the development of extra care provision within the area was presented.

The Leader and Portfolio Member for Social Services reported that the report sets out the general reasons for developing extra care as a model of provision; in the South of Anglesey the Seiriol area was noted as the preferred location when the commitment was made in October, 2015 to consider site options within the South of Anglesey. The matter has been considered and scrutinised by the Corporate Scrutiny Committee which supports the engagement proposal.

The Head of Adults' Services said that the Executive in December, 2013 determined as part of the corporate plan that future investment should be targeted at the development of extra care provision whilst at the same time maintaining the availability of choice within residential establishment. The extra care housing model is a key element of the Transformation Programme for Adults as the service seeks to move away from more traditional residential care provision. The report presented also includes a site options survey and it lists the factors that have influenced the assessment which has resulted in the designation of the current Ysgol Beaumaris site as the preferred option.

Councillors Lewis Davies and Alun Roberts spoke as Local Members and whilst they both supported the development of extra care housing provision in principle, neither favoured the site proposed to locate the provision in this area firstly for site specific reasons it being situated on a hill, out of town and at a greater distance from essential facilities than was ideal and secondly, for reasons that it would reinforce the impression of Beaumaris as a town for older people whereas what the town requires is investment in social housing to retain and draw a younger population not least to sustain its core tourism industry. Both were concerned about the implications of this development for Heulfre residential home and for Ysgol Beaumaris whose future was already under consideration.

The Portfolio Member for Major Projects and Economic Development who was also a Local Member echoed the sentiments above and added that further work needs to be done in the engagement process to educate people about the extra care

concept and what it means; also consideration should be given to alternative sites should such options emerge as a result of engagement. The Portfolio Member said that South Anglesey is a large area and queried whether the views of the communities of Llanfair and Brynsiencyn for example should be canvassed.

The Head of Adults' Service said that the commitment made in 2015 was to look at the Seiriol area; suitable sites for the development within Seiriol are limited but having applied the factors listed in the report and through working with the local community it is considered that the school site can work well and become part of the community especially as part of a wider age well hub. The Seiriol area is favoured because it presents an opportunity to proceed within a reasonable timeframe and to progress a model of provision that the service wants to develop thereby offering an alternative option for independent living for older people. The engagement period will allow individuals to see extra care housing and to speak to people about their experiences of extra care as regards being able to maintain their independence whilst still living in an environment that provides access to support.

It was resolved that a period of engagement should take place locally within the Seiriol area during November and December, 2017 with regard to the following matters:

- Developing extra care housing provision in the Seiriol area to provide a minimum of 39 self-contained flats in accordance with nationally approved models of provision.
- That the preferred site for this development is the site of the current Ysgol Beaumaris either co-located with an adapted school or as the prime use for this land.
- That the Council pursue options to fund the development through the Housing Revenue Account so that the development becomes additional council housing stock within the county providing vital accommodation for older people.

(Councillor Carwyn Jones abstained from voting)

9 SCHOOLS' MODERNISATION - SEIRIOL AREA - INFORMAL CONSULTATION

The report of the Head of Learning incorporating the outcome of the informal, non-statutory consultation on the modernisation of the primary education provision in the Seiriol area was presented for the Executive's consideration. The report set out the context as regards the drivers for change; the responses from the three consultation meetings held with staff, governors and parents of the three schools affected – Beaumaris, Llandegfan and Llangoed as well as other stakeholders; analysis of the options for change undertaken according to an established scoring system and the resulting option on which it was recommended a statutory consultation should proceed.

The Portfolio Member for Education reported that the Executive had assented to Officers of the Lifelong Learning Service conducting an informal or non-statutory consultation on the primary education provision in the Seiriol area back in June, 2016. This process subsequently took place over the period 19 June to 30 July 2017

during which three meetings with stakeholders at Ysgol Llangoed, Beaumaris and Llandegfan were held which he had attended. The Portfolio Member said that this matter had been scrutinised in detail by the Corporate Scrutiny Committee the previous week which after careful consideration and debate, had supported the recommendations presented which involved conducting a statutory consultation on the closure of Ysgol Beaumaris. At the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee, he had outlined the grounds on which the recommendation had been made including amongst others, falling pupil numbers and surplus places at Ysgol Beaumaris, the resulting high cost of provision, and the extent of the investment needed in the school building. The highest scoring options assessed against the factors for change all involved the closure of Ysgol Beaumaris. He had stated at the meeting that he was open to any alternative, viable option to closing the school and that that remains the case. However, to date none have been presented. He acknowledged that this is a difficult decision to have to make but given the challenging financial circumstances in which local authorities are having to work, and the change in approach that this is necessitating, it is unlikely to be the last.

The Head of Learning said that the initial consultation that was held was an informal process designed to obtain the views and opinions as well as any new ideas by the local community and as an additional step undertaken by Anglesey Council as a matter of choice, is one that is regarded as good practice. Where the school modernisation process has been undertaken in the past, the views and comments expressed at the informal, non-statutory stage have contributed to and helped shape the eventual decision. In the case of the Seiriol area, a number of observations and additional options were presented during the informal consultation and these have been considered. Correspondence was also received from the schools and governing bodies of the three schools and by the Local Members. The concerns and issues expressed in these letters have been formally acknowledged by the Lifelong Learning Service and the documentation is attached to the outcome report. However, it must be noted that the points raised do not change how the options have been weighted or scored and that the high scoring options all indicate that the criteria for change are most fully met by the closure of Ysgol Beaumaris e.g. high cost per pupil; empty places; condition of school building, school leadership capacity. The service has subsequently worked hard to formulate an option on which to statutorily consult that is clear and unambiguous.

Councillors Lewis Davies, Alun Roberts and Carwyn Jones spoke in their capacity as Local Members. They brought the following matters to the Executive's attention –

- That the closure of Ysgol Beaumaris would impoverish the town culturally, socially and economically. All of Wales's 170 towns have schools to do away with the school which has a long history in Beaumaris, would only serve to undermine the town and its future prospects.
- That a sustainable town is a town with a school. Closure of the school will reinforce the impression of Beaumaris as an "ageing" town with a high percentage of older people. To attract and keep families and younger people who are also essential to the prosperity of the town's core tourism industry, the school must be retained.

- That the South Anglesey area has seen the gradual loss of a range of services. The area needs a comprehensive and integrated regeneration plan that addresses its social and economic renewal needs. The form the area's primary education provision should take should only be considered after this has been put in place and the broader requirements of the area are clear. The proposed statutory consultation process is therefore premature.
- That the proposals put forward are unambitious and lack vision for primary education in the Seiriol area. There is no option for a new school as has been the case with other areas where school modernisation has been consulted upon.
- That the criteria used to develop options have shortcomings and seem to be weighted towards the closure of Ysgol Beaumaris.
- That pupil numbers at Ysgol Beaumaris are on the up.
- That there is no certainty should Ysgol Beaumaris close that parents will choose to send their children to either Ysgol Llandegfan or Ysgol Llangoed; they may instead choose to go out of county with a resultant loss of funding to the Authority.
- That the views of the local community should carry equal weight and local people should be given the opportunity to develop an option based on how they see the future of the town and their experiences and knowledge of it.

The Head of Learning said the original document which was consulted upon informally confirms that the situation as regards empty places in Ysgol Beaumaris will continue at a level of between 60% an 70% until 2022 on the basis of current birth rates in the area and also after taking into account the Joint Local Development Plan which projects an additional 14 children in the area in the period.

It was resolved -

- That the recommendation in the report on the non-statutory consultation phase in the Seiriol area be implemented.
- To authorise Officers from the Lifelong Learning Directorate to proceed to the statutory consultation on the proposals under consideration as follows:
- Close Ysgol Beaumaris and for the parents of the pupils on roll at the time this decision is made by the Executive to state their preference for either Ysgol Llandegfan or Ysgol Llangoed in line with the schools' admission policy.
- Review the current catchment areas of the three schools with a view to implementing any changes when Ysgol Beaumaris closes.
 - · Refurbish Ysgol Llangoed and Ysgol Llandegfan, and
- Consider whether to federate Ysgol Llangoed and Ysgol Llandegfan at the end of this process.

(Councillor Carwyn Jones did not vote on the matter)

10 PERFORMANCE REVIEW OF SOCIAL SERVICES (CSSIW)

The report of the Assistant Chief Executive and Statutory Director of Social Services incorporating CSSIW's Annual Performance Letter with regard to Anglesey's Social Services along with the Service's resultant Action Plan was presented for the Executive's consideration.

The Assistant Chief Executive and Statutory Director of Social Services reported that the Annual Performance letter is the first of its kind by CSSIW and it reports in a new format on the Social Services' performance during the year including areas where progress has been made. It provides greater coverage of Adults' Services as Children's Services has already been the subject of an inspection in November, 2016 with the recommendations arising from the inspection currently being implemented. The letter has been drafted following the CSSIW's annual performance review meeting with Anglesey's Social Services on 24 March, 2017 where the regulator provided feedback on its inspection, engagement and performance review activity over the previous 12 months. To ensure that matters raised in the letter are given attention an Improvement Priority Action Plan has been drawn up which seeks to address each improvement priority identified within a specific timeframe where possible.

It was resolved -

- To accept the CSSIW's Annual Performance Review Letter and to note its contents.
- To approve the Action Plan in response to the Annual Performance Review Letter.

11 REVISED WYLFA NEWYDD SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE (SPG)

The report of the Head of Regulatory and Economic Development Service seeking the Executive's approval to commence on a period of consultation on the revised New Nuclear Build at Wylfa – Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) in November, 2017 was presented for consideration.

The Portfolio Member for Major Projects and Economic Development reported that the current New Nuclear Build at Wylfa SPG was produced and adopted by the Isle of Anglesey County Council in July, 2014. Since then, there have been a number of fundamental changes – both in policy and in legislation as well as project updates proposed by Horizon – which have made a review of the current SPG necessary. These are outlined in the report. It is imperative that the revised SPG is completed and adopted by the Full Council before Horizon submits its Development Consent Order (DCO) in the first quarter of 2018. The SPG will be the backbone of the Council's response to the project and will inform and underpin the Council's position that will be articulated in the Local Impact Report and other written representations. Given the limited time to undertake consultation and enable adoption of a revised SPG, it is proposed that the decision made be categorised as urgent in accordance with the provisions of paragraph 4.5.16.10 of the Council's Constitution and therefore ineligible to be called-in. A potential call-in could lead to delay which might prejudice the Council's and the public's interest in responding to the DCO application.

It was resolved -

• To authorise Officers to commence a period of 6 weeks public consultation on the revised New Nuclear Build at Wylfa: Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG) in November, 2017.

• To agree to this decision being urgent as defined in paragraph 4.5.16.10 of the Council's Constitution such that the decision will not be subject to call-in for the reason stated in the report.

12 ANNUAL REPORT - ACHIEVEMENTS AGAINST THE TENANTS PARTICIPATION STRATEGY

The report of the Head of Housing Services setting out progress against the Tenants' Participation Strategy was presented for the Executive's consideration.

The Portfolio Member for Housing and Supporting Communities reported that the report reflects a number of successes in 2016/17 as regards constructive engagement with tenants and leaseholders on matters that relate to how their homes are managed.

The Head of Housing Services said that for 2017/18 the service will seek new, up to date ways of ensuring that tenants' views are heard.

Councillor Gwilym O. Jones, Chair of the Partnership and Regeneration Scrutiny Committee reported that the Scrutiny Committee had considered the progress report at its meeting on 9th October, 2017 and had noted the following –

- The Committee was concerned about the impact of the roll-out of Universal Credit on vulnerable families especially the delay in payments and the financial hardship this might cause. The Committee was clear that no tenant should be at risk of losing their home if as a result of delayed payment, they are temporarily unable to pay their rent.
- The Committee noted and supported the estate clean up days project.
- The Committee noted the good relationship between the Housing Service and North Wales Police with regard to sharing information to tackle anti-social behaviour on estates.
- The Committee noted that the communal lounges in sheltered housing scheme on the Island are being considered for development as a base for community hubs and that consultation with tenants on the potential for extended use is taking place.
- The Committee acknowledged the success of the Môn Tenants and Officer Voice group and it supported the intention to increase tenant representation from areas across the Island.
- The Committee supported the idea that the report be shared at one of the Members' Briefing Sessions.
- The Committee had accepted the report and supported the recommendations therein.

It was resolved -

- To accept the Housing Tenants' Participation Strategy progress report as presented.
- That Elected Members and the Senior Leadership Team play an active part in promoting tenants' participation and in ensuring all tenants have a voice and a part to play in future housing and corporate developments.

13 EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC

This item was not considered.

14 TRANSFORMATION OF THE CULTURE SERVICE - LLYNNON SITE

This item was withdrawn.

Councillor Llinos Medi Huws Chair